STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

11-24-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014 AP 1876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC L. NIGL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in Winnebago County Circuit Court, the Honorable Barbara H. Key, Presiding and the Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Winnebago County Circuit Court, the Honorable Scott C. Woldt, Presiding

Winnebago County Circuit Court Case No. 2012CF833

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

William J. Donarski State Bar No. 1021567 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

OFFICE ADDRESS:

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. For a juvenile, adjudicated prior to the decision in <u>Cesar G.</u>, does the Automatic Registration Requirement for the Sex Offender Registry apply, if the Juvenile Court never actually exercised discretion and considered the best interest of the child? The trial court answered: No. The post-conviction motion court answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Nigl does requests publication of the opinion in this case. A published opinion in this case would help clarify the law regarding the status of persons with juvenile adjudications prior to 2004, where the issue of the possible stay of the sex offender registration requirement was never addressed by the juvenile judge. It appears that this is an issue of first impression in Wisconsin.

However, the evidence is documentary in nature, and there is no dispute about what evidence was submitted, but rather turns on the interpretation of law, and therefore, oral argument is not necessary nor requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant-Appellant, Eric L. Nigl, (hereinafter, Nigl) was charged with Sex Offender Registry Violation pursuant to \$301.45(6)(a)1, Stats., in a complaint filed on December 3, 2012 (1:2-3; App.103-104). The complaint alleged that Nigl "is required to register as a sex offender subsequent to his conviction for First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child in Winnebago¹ Case 98JV566, date of conviction 4/20/99." (1:2; App.103)

The defense filed a Motion to Dismiss (9:1-7) on September 19, 2013. This motion argued, as grounds: "The juvenile asserts that the dispositional order must include the registry requirement before a juvenile is subjected to the registry requirement." (9:1)

The Motion to Dismiss was heard before the trial court on September 23, 2013. (39:3-6; App.105-108). The trial court denied the motion in an oral ruling. (Id.)

The case proceeded to a court trial on September 25, 2013, and Nigl was found guilty by the trial court on the one count. (40:1-16 and 15:1-2; App.101-102). Nigl was

It was actually an Outagamie County juvenile case, but that error in the complaint is not at issue on this appeal. (See, 11:1-4)

sentenced to 63 days jail, which was a time served sentence. (Id.)

Nigl timely filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Post-Conviction Relief on September 26, 2013. (16:1). Appellate counsel was appointed, and subsequently, a Post-Conviction Motion was filed on February 26, 2014. (18:1-4) The postconviction motion asked the court to reconsider its original oral ruling. It also added an additional argument that applying the automatic application of the registry requirement, specifically to Nigl, would be improper based upon the fact that the law at the time of the juvenile disposition was undeveloped regarding the authority of the juvenile court to issue a stay of the automatic registration requirement. (Id.).

A briefing schedule was ordered by the trial court. The defense filed a Brief on March 31, 2014. (21:1-5) The State filed a Response Brief on April 4, 2014. (22:1-2) And, the defense filed a Reply Brief on April 21, 2014. (23:1-3)

A hearing was held on the post-conviction motion on May 8, 2014. Before the hearing started, Judge Key, who presided over the pretrial motion and the court trial, recused herself, and a new judge was appointed through

Specific Judicial Assignment. (24:1-2). This judge also recused himself, and another judge, the Hon. Scott C. Woldt, was appointed. (25:2)

Finally, on July 14, 2014, a hearing was held on the post-conviction motion before the Hon. Scott C. Woldt. Both sides essentially relied upon the arguments in the several briefs that were filed, as accurately and fully stating the positions of the parties. (41:3-4; App.109-110)

Having considered the written submissions of the parties, the trial court denied the motion on the record (Id.) and entered in a written order dated July 25, 2014. (29:1). This appeal followed with a timely Notice of Appeal, filed on August 8, 2014. (30:1-2).

The factual basis for the single issue on appeal is as follows:

The dispositional order in Nigl's juvenile case was entered on 3/22/1999. (11:1-4) At that time he was 13¹/₂ years old. No mention of whether the adjudication would require Nigl to register as a sex offender was made in the adjudication. The Dispositional Order expired on 04/20/2000. (Id.)

In 2004, the Wisconsin Supreme Court ruled on the issue of the availability of a stay of the automatic registration

requirement for juveniles, in <u>State v. Cesar G</u>., 2004 WI 61, ¶40, 272 Wis.2d 22, 682 N.W.2d 1. When this was decided, Nigl was already almost 19 years old and out of the jurisdiction of the juvenile court, and the Dispositional Order had already been expired for four years.

There is no dispute that Nigl never took any action to ask for the registration requirement to be stayed. There is no dispute that the State proved at trial that Nigl had been adjudicated of violating §948.02(1), Stats. (40:6 and 11:1-4) There is no dispute that the State proved at trial that during the time periods alleged, Nigl had not provided the information required under §301.45(2) and (4), Stats. (40:7-10)

Further reference to the record and facts will be provided as needed in the argument.

ARGUMENT

I. For a Juvenile, Does the Automatic Registration Requirement for the Sex Offender Registry Still Require the Juvenile Court to Actually Exercise Discretion and Consider the Best Interest of the Child?

The State proceeded with this case on the assumption that the statutory language in §301.45(1g), Stats., automatically requires a person, such as Nigl, who was adjudicated under §948.02(1), Stats., to register as a Sex

Offender. There is no dispute, that for an adult conviction, the requirement to register operates automatically.

However, Nigl argues that in juvenile court, there is no automatic operation of law, as all dispositions require the juvenile court to actually exercise discretion and to determine the best interests of the child. If the juvenile court did not actually exercise any discretion, it would be fundamentally unfair to Nigl to allow the automatic operation of law to require him to register based upon a juvenile adjudication.

A. Standard of Review

The determination of fundamental fairness is a matter of discretion to be determined by the trial judge on a case by case basis. <u>Michelle T. v. Crozier</u>, 173 Wis.2d 681, 698, 495 N.W.2d 327 (1993). Generally, a reviewing court will "[n]ot reverse a discretionary determination by the trial court if the record shows that discretion was in fact exercised and we can perceive a reasonable basis for the court's decision." <u>Prahl v. Brosamle</u>, 142 Wis.2d 658, 667, 420 N.W.2d 372 (Ct. App. 1987).

In the first place, there must be evidence that discretion was in fact exercised. Discretion is not

synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning. <u>McCleary v. State</u>, 49 Wis.2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). Further, a trial court erroneously exercises discretion when its decision is based on a misapplication or erroneous view of the law. <u>Datronic Rental Corp. v. DeSol, Inc.</u>, 164 Wis.2d 289, 292, 474 N.W.2d 780 (Ct. App. 1991).

To determine whether the trial court properly exercised discretion the reviewing court looks first to the trial court's on-the-record explanation of the reasons underlying its decision. The reviewing court then determines if that explanation shows the trial court looked to and considered the facts of the case and reasoned its way to a conclusion that is (a) one a reasonable judge could reach and (b) consistent with applicable law. <u>Burkes v. Hales</u>, 165 Wis.2d 585, 590, 478 N.W.2d 37 (Ct. App. 1991).

B. THE JUVENILE COURT WAS NOT AWARE OF THE AVAILABILITY OF A STAY OF THE AUTOMATIC SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENT AND THEREFORE COULD NOT PROPERLY EXERCISE DISCRETION ON WHETHER TO STAY REGISTRATION

In 1999, when Nigl was adjudicated as a juvenile, neither the juvenile court, nor anybody else, was aware that in 2004, the Wisconsin Supreme Court would decide <u>Cesar G.</u> The availability to a juvenile of the right to move for

a stay of sex offender registration was first clearly identified for automatic registration adjudications in 2004, in <u>State v. Cesar G.</u>, 2004 WI 61, ¶40, 272 Wis.2d 22, 682 N.W.2d 1, where the Wisconsin Supreme Court interpreted §938.34(16) as giving courts discretion to stay the automatic mandatory sex offender registration requirement. The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated "The policies the State urges that favor a mandatory registration requirement in non-juvenile cases simply do not apply in juvenile cases where a circuit court has the flexibility to tailor a juvenile's disposition to achieve the multiple goals of the Juvenile Justice Code." <u>Id.</u>, at ¶37. What might be mandatory in adult criminal court, is not mandatory in juvenile court.

The requirement for the juvenile court to consider the best interest of the child in exercising its discretion on whether to stay sex offender reporting was discussed in <u>State v. Jeremy P.</u>, 2005 WI App 13, 275 Wis.2d 366, 692 N.W.2d 311. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals in <u>Jeremy P.</u>, at ¶16 stated:

> Moreover, if one considered mandatory sex registration by juveniles to be punishment, the supreme court's decision in *Cesar* effectively attaches a "best interest of the child" consideration to

that punishment by permitting the trial court to exercise its discretion to stay that part of the dispositional order. See 272 Wis.2d 22, $\P 2$. With that additional safeguard, which is unavailable to adults in the mandatory registration class, the traditional concerns with, and consideration of, the best interests of the child remain an important aspect of this part of the juvenile code.

It is clear that what is a mandatory sex offender registration requirement for adults is not a mandatory registration requirement for juveniles. Before registration is required, the juvenile court must consider the best interest of the child, and exercise its discretion. For Nigl, in 1999, that never happened as the juvenile court never knew that was the standard.

There can be an argument that the juvenile court could have exercised its discretion, if only Nigl had asked it to do so. Nigl agrees with the State (22:2 - first full paragraph) that the legal standard for a juvenile court to grant a stay of the automatic registration requirement was in existence at the time of Nigl's disposition in 1999, as the Wisconsin Supreme Court simply interpreted existing statutes to arrive at the "new" procedure announced in <u>Cesar</u> <u>G.</u> Nigl agrees that the Juvenile Court "had" the discretion to stay the registration requirement at the time

of the disposition. However, Nigl asserts that it is also clear that neither the Juvenile Court, nor anybody else at the time, knew the correct legal standard. The first question is always whether discretion was in fact exercised. See <u>McCleary v. State</u>, 49 Wis.2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). In this case, the juvenile court did not exercise its discretion, as it did not know it even had the discretion.

It could be argued that if the transcript of the juvenile proceeding was available discretion could be pieced together from the record. However, it is clear that the juvenile court would have been using the wrong legal standard, as the correct standard was not announced for five more years when <u>Cesar G.</u>, was decided.

Given the standards "assumed" to be operative in 1999, the Juvenile Court would not have used the correct legal principles. A trial court erroneously exercises discretion when its decision is based on a misapplication or erroneous view of the law. <u>Datronic Rental Corp. v. DeSol, Inc.</u>, 164 Wis.2d 289, 292, 474 N.W.2d 780 (Ct. App. 1991). Here, the juvenile court, and everybody else, was unaware that the Wisconsin Supreme Court would announce this new standard five years later, so it would have been impossible for the

juvenile court to have even considered the question under the correct legal principle.

This case is simply about whether the juvenile court that entered the dispositional order for Nigl in 1999 exercised its safeguard discretion to stay the requirement for Nigl to register as a sex offender. If the juvenile court did not even know that it had that safeguard discretion to stay the registration requirement for Nigl, it would be fundamentally unfair to Nigl for the mandatory registration requirement to apply to him since nothing is mandatory in juvenile court until the judge considers the best interest of the child and actually exercises discretion.

This appeal should not be construed as a collateral attack on the underlying adjudication. That adjudication remains intact, and nothing in it is challenged. What is challenged, is what is not in the adjudication; that is the requirement to register. Nigl is not trying to "void" the adjudication, nor is he trying to "overturn" the adjudication, nor is he trying to "challenge the validity" of his prior adjudication. See <u>State v. Sorenson</u>, 2002 WI 78, ¶¶34 - 37, 254 Wis.2d 54, 646 N.W.2d 354. The juvenile adjudication remains. The only question is what are the

consequences of that adjudication today.

Currently, when a juvenile is adjudicated on a statute that would require automatic registration as a sex offender for an adult, everybody is on notice that it is the juveniles burden to move for a stay pursuant to <u>Cesar G.</u>. It should be made clear that Nigl is not challenging the constitutionality of the current burden on the juvenile to move for a stay to avoid the automatic registration requirement. He is simply arguing that it would be fundamentally unfair to apply the current automatic mandatory registration requirement to him.

However, in <u>State v. Jeremy P.</u>, 2005 WI App 13, $\P22$ 275 Wis.2d 366, 692 N.W.2d 311, it was ruled that the safeguard discretion provided to the juvenile court in <u>Cesar</u> <u>G.</u>, to consider the best interest of the child before the mandatory registration requirement is effective allows it to survive a constitutional challenge.

The final result in <u>Jeremy P.</u>, was that the court of appeals remanded the case back to the juvenile court to consider whether to stay the registration component of the dispositional order. <u>Id.</u>, at ¶30. That result is not available to Nigl, as his dispositional order has expired fourteen years ago, and the juvenile court no longer has

jurisdiction.

The Juvenile Court never exercised discretion on whether to grant a stay because it is clear that nobody at the time even knew that such discretion was available. In order for an order or a result to be based upon the proper exercise of discretion, there must be evidence that discretion was in fact exercised. Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning. McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). In this case, it seems clear that the juvenile court never actually exercised discretion in deciding if the best interests of the child would include staying the registration requirement or not. Without the juvenile court exercising its safequard discretion by considering the best interest of the child, it would be fundamentally unfair to hold that Nigl was subject to the automatic registration requirement by the operation of law as that result negates any safeguard discretion that saves the law from constitutional attack.

C. THE TRIAL COURT AND THE POST-CONVICTION MOTION COURT RELIED UPON THE AUTOMATIC SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENT TO DENY THE MOTION TO DISMISS

The trial court, for this case, denied the Motion to Dismiss. This motion was based upon the dispositional order

having no specific mention of any requirement to register. The trial court considered the evidence and stated, "if anything, the court simply did not address in the Dispositional Order the required finding that Mr. Nigl did qualify for sex offender registration." (39:6; App.108

The trial court then considered the law, and stated, "...there is the requirement here unless there's a specific finding that he should not have - - or did not have to register as a sex offender." (Id.) The trial court clearly is considering the law as an automatic operation requiring registration unless the juvenile moves for and proves the necessary factors to obtain a stay.

The trial court then went on to make a ruling "That finding was not specifically made so, as such, in the Court's view, the law would require that he does register as a sex offender." (Id.) The trial court thus denied the motion to dismiss because it considered the registration requirement as an automatic operation of law. This negated the need to consider the best interest of the child.

The post-conviction motion court also relied upon the automatic operation of law to trigger the registration requirement. That court stated, "...the law is what the law is... He had to ... comply with the Sexual Offender

Registration based upon the conviction back then." (41:4: App.110) The post-conviction motion court then denied the motion to dismiss essentially finding that this was a "collateral issue" but also finding that there is no fundamental unfairness. (Id.)

Neither the trial court, nor the post-conviction motion court properly exercised their discretion, as they both worked under the assumption that the automatic operation of law required Nigl to register as a sex offender, merely based upon the nature of his juvenile adjudication and the silence of the juvenile court on the issue of staying the registration requirement. This is an erroneous view of the law, as it fails to take into consideration the fact that the exercise of discretion by the juvenile court in considering the best interest of the child is necessary for the automatic registration to survive constitutional attack. A trial court erroneously exercises discretion when its decision is based on a misapplication or erroneous view of the law. <u>Datronic Rental Corp. v. DeSol, Inc.</u>, 164 Wis.2d 289, 292, 474 N.W.2d 780 (Ct. App. 1991).

Nigl was adjudicated in 1999. It wasn't until 2004 that <u>Cesar G.</u>, was decided, and juvenile courts first learned that the automatic operation of law for the

registration requirement was only allowed if they first considered the best interest of the child on whether there should be a stay of registration. Because the juvenile court never exercised its discretion, and never considered the best interest of the child when it failed to address whether there should be a stay of registration, it would be fundamentally unfair for the automatic operation of law to require Nigl to register as a sex offender.

Since the automatic operation of law to require registration should not apply to Nigl, he should have no requirement to register, and therefore his failure to register is not a crime, and the conviction should be dismissed.

Finally, Nigl takes no position on how the automatic operation of law might apply to juveniles that were adjudicated after the <u>Cesar G.</u>, decision. After that time, the availability of a stay, and the requirement for the juvenile court to consider the best interest of the child were known.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated above, the defendant, Eric L. Nigl, hereby requests that his conviction for failing to register as sex offender be dismissed, since the juvenile court never considered the best interest of the child, but rather, left the dispositional order silent as to the need for him to register.