RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-28-2015

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP1876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC L. NIGL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BARBARA H. KEY PRESIDING, AND THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SCOTT C. WOLDT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Under nonretroactivity doctrine, a case announcing a new rule generally cannot be applied retroactively to closed cases. Here, Eric L. Nigl had to register as a sex offender after his adjudication for sexual assault in 1999. But Nigl argues that he should not have to register based upon a rule announced subsequently in *In the Interest of Cesar G.*, 2004 WI 61, ¶ 40, 272 Wis. 2d 22, 682 N.W.2d 1. Should this Court retroactively apply *Cesar G.* to Nigl's adjudication after he failed to comply with registration in 2012?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary because the briefs should fully present and meet the issue on appeal. See Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b).

The State agrees with Nigl on publication. A published decision would clarify an existing rule of substantial and

continuing public interest. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1. and 5.1

ARGUMENT

I. This Court reviews the legal question on appeal de novo, while accepting the circuit court's findings of fact as true unless clearly erroneous.

This Court reviews whether *Cesar G*. may be applied retroactively to Nigl's sex offender registration requirement as a question of law. *See State v. Howard*, 211 Wis. 2d 269, 276-77, 564 N.W.2d 753 (1997), rev'd on other grounds, State v. Gordon, 2003 WI 69, ¶ 5, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 663 N.W.2d 765. But the circuit court's "[f]indings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, ¶ 20, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516 (citing Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2)). So this Court generally accepts the lower court's findings of fact applying the legal principles de novo to those facts. *See State v. Sobczak*, 2013 WI 52, ¶ 9, 347 Wis. 2d 724, 833 N.W.2d 59.

¹The State cautions, however, that the record only contains four pages from Nigl's underlying juvenile case (R. 11:1-4). The State defers to this Court's discretion on the impact this limited record may have on the publication decision. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1).

This Court is not bound to the grounds set forth by the circuit court if it decides the decision was correct but disagrees with the basis for that decision. "An appellate court is concerned with whether the decision . . . is correct, not whether it or the circuit court's reasoning is." *Liberty Trucking Co. v. Dep't of Indus., Labor & Human Relations*, 57 Wis. 2d 331, 342, 204 N.W.2d 457 (1973). So "[i]f the holding is correct, it should be sustained and this court may do so on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court." *Id.*; see also State ex rel. Harris v. Milwaukee City Fire & Police Comm'n, 2012 WI App 23, ¶ 9, 339 Wis. 2d 434, 810 N.W.2d 488.

II. The circuit court properly convicted Nigl after finding beyond a reasonable doubt that he knowingly failed to comply with a sex offender registration requirement.

The circuit court found that Nigl knowingly failed to comply with a sex offender registration requirement. Nigl was required to register as a sex offender after his juvenile adjudication in 1999 for first degree sexual assault of a child (R. 1:2, 11:1-2 (citing Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1) (1997-98))). In 2012, Nigl failed to comply with the requirement to keep

his address current with the Wisconsin Department of Corrections ("DOC") (R. 1). Nigl's noncompliance violated his sex offender registration obligation. *See* Wis. Stat. § 301.45 (2011-12)². At trial, the court found that the State met its burden of proof that Nigl failed to comply with his registration requirement (R. 40:12).³

The crime required the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Nigl knowingly failed to comply with a requirement to provide the DOC with an updated address within 10 days after a change occurred. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)5., (4)(a), and (6)(a)1. So the State had to prove three elements: (1) Nigl was a person required to provide information under the sex offender registration statute; (2) Nigl failed to provide an updated address as required; and (3) Nigl knowingly failed to provide the required updated address. See Wis. J.I.-Criminal 2198 (2013).

The court found that the State proved the first element—Nigl was a person required to provide information

 $^{^2\!}All$ citations to Wis. Stat. § 301.45 are to this edition.

³Nigl had a court trial after waiving his right to jury (R. 40:4-5).

under the sex offender registration statute (R. 40:12). During the trial, the court received into evidence as an exhibit the 1999 dispositional order from Nigl's juvenile adjudication (R. 11:1-4, 40:10-11). Nigl argued that the dispositional order "does not say anything about registry" (R. 40:11). But the court was not persuaded by his argument (R. 40:11-12). The court found that "[t]here wasn't any stay in [e]ffect and just because it's not on the order doesn't mean that he still isn't subject to the requirements of 301.45" (R. 40:11). The court found beyond a reasonable doubt Nigl was required to register under the statute (R. 40:11-12).

The found the State court proved the second element—Nigl failed to provide DOC with an updated address within 10 days after a change occurred (R. 40:12). At trial, DOC Registration Specialist Nichole Hall stated that she supervised Nigl (R. 40:6). Hall testified that, in January 2012, she spoke with Nigl at his registered residence in the City of Appleton (R. 40:8). In August 2012, DOC mailed Nigl his annual registration letter, which the post office returned because he no longer was at his

registered residence (R. 40:8). Hall testified that she undertook a significant investigation to locate Nigl (R. 40:8). Nigl's whereabouts remained unknown until his arrest on unrelated warrants in November 2012 (R. 40:9). After Nigl's arrest, DOC learned that he had moved to a residence in the City of Kaukauna (R. 40:9). Hall testified that Nigl failed to provide DOC with his updated address from at least August to November 2012 (R. 40:10). From Hall's testimony, the court found beyond a reasonable doubt that Nigl failed to provide DOC with his updated address within 10 days (R. 40:12).

The court found the State proved the third element—Nigl knowingly failed to provide the required updated address (R. 40:12). Hall testified that Nigl received numerous notices about his obligation to register over the course of several years (R. 40:7). She explained that, in January 2012, she had a meeting where she again reviewed Nigl's reporting obligations with him (R. 40:7). From Hall's testimony, the court found beyond a reasonable doubt that Nigl knowingly

failed to comply with his registration requirements (R. 40:12).

This Court should defer to the circuit court's findings of fact. See Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). Nigl does not allege the court's factual findings were clearly erroneous. He confirms that "[t]here is no dispute that the State proved at trial that during the time periods alleged, Nigl had not provided the information required" (Def.-Appellant Br. 5). So this Court's review begins with great deference to the factual determinations made by the circuit court as the trier of fact. State v. Rowan, 2012 WI 60, ¶ 5, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854.

III. Nigl forfeited his statutory right for an exemption to sex offender registration when he failed to move for such an exemption at the time of his juvenile disposition in 1999.

A defendant or juvenile forfeits a right when he or she fails to make a timely assertion of the right. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. Here, Nigl concedes that he "never took any action to ask for the registration requirement to be stayed" at the time of his adjudication in 1999 (Def.-Appellant Br. 5). So he forfeited

his statutory right for an exemption to sex offender registration. See Ndina, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 29.

A. Nigl forfeited his statutory right for a waiver of sex offender registration because he failed to move for waiver under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m).

At the time of Nigl's adjudication in 1999, the Juvenile Justice Code allowed a juvenile to file a motion exempting him or her from sex offender registration:

If the juvenile is adjudicated delinquent on the basis of a violation, or the solicitation, conspiracy or attempt to commit a violation, of s. 940.225 (1), (2) or (3), 944.06, 948.02 (1) or (2), 948.025, 948.05, 948.055, 948.06, 948.07, 948.08, 948.11 or 948.30, or of s. 940.30 or 940.31 if the victim was a minor and the juvenile was not the victim's parent, the court shall require the juvenile to comply with the reporting requirements under s. 301.45 unless the court determines, after a hearing on a motion made by the juvenile, that the juvenile is not required to comply under s. 301.45 (1m).

Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m)(bm) (1997-98)⁴; see In the Interest of Hezzie R., 219 Wis. 2d 848, 880 n.10, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998), as amended on denial of reconsideration, 220 Wis. 2d 360, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998).

In July 1998, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized that "the reporting requirements for sex offender

⁴All citations to Wis. Stat. § 938.34 are to this edition.

registration . . . may be waived" under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m)(bm). Hezzie R., 219 Wis. 2d at 880. The Court explained that "a juvenile need not comply with the reporting requirements of § 301.45 if 'the court determines, after a hearing on a motion made by the juvenile, that the juvenile is not required to comply under s. 301.45(1m)." Id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m)(bm)).

A juvenile must file a motion seeking waiver before the court considers an exemption to sex offender registration. Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m)(bm). Upon filing a motion, the juvenile court may excuse registration when the juvenile meets the following four requirements:

(1) the offender is younger than nineteen; (2) the offender was convicted of first-degree sexual assault of a child, second-degree sexual assault of a child or repeated acts of sexual assault of the same child; (3) there is no more than a four-year age difference between the child and the offender; and (4) protection of the public does not require registration of the offender.

In re Joseph E.G., 2001 WI App 29, ¶ 10, 240 Wis. 2d 481, 623 N.W.2d 137 (citing Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)). The court does not consider this exemption when the juvenile fails to make a motion. Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m).

Prior to Nigl's disposition in April 1999, he could have moved for waiver of sex offender registration under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m). The statutory section was enacted a year earlier. Hezzie R., 219 Wis. 2d at 880 n.10. And prior to Nigl's disposition the Court confirmed that the section permitted waiver of sex offender registration to eligible juveniles. Id. at 880. So the registration requirements "are only imposed on a juvenile who is adjudicated delinquent where the particular facts of the case and concerns for public safety dictate it." Id. at 881.

Nigl failed to move for waiver under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m) at the time of his adjudication in 1999. See State v. Holmgren, 229 Wis. 2d 358, 363 n.2, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999). So he forfeited this

⁵Nigl fails to provide this Court with sufficient records from his underlying juvenile adjudication. As the appellant, Nigl has the burden "to ensure that the record is sufficient to address issues raised on appeal." *State v. Sahs*, 2013 WI 51, ¶ 50, 347 Wis. 2d 641, 832 N.W.2d 80. He only provides this Court with four pages of the record from his underlying juvenile case (R. 11:1-4). When the appellant provides this Court with an incomplete record, the Court must assume that the missing material supports the circuit court's ruling. *Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d at 363 n.2. So this Court may assume that Nigl was an eligible juvenile who did not file a waiver motion. *Id*.

statutory right exempting him from sex offender registration. See Ndina, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 29.

B. Nigl forfeited his statutory right for a stay of sex offender registration because he failed to move for a stay under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(16).

At the time of Nigl's adjudication in 1999, the Juvenile Justice Code allowed a circuit court to enter an order staying one or more dispositions. Wis. Stat. § 938.34(16). After adjudication, the juvenile court must enter an order imposing one or more of the dispositions under Wis. Stat. § 938.34. The court then may "enter an additional order staying the execution of the dispositional order contingent on the juvenile's satisfactory compliance with any conditions that are specified in the dispositional order and explained to the juvenile by the court." Wis. Stat. § 938.34(16).

In 1995, the sex offender reporting requirement was included as a disposition under Wis. Stat. § 938.34. 1995 Wisconsin Act 77, sec. 629 (creating Wis. Stat. § 938.34); see 1995 Wisconsin Act 440, secs. 79-81 (amending Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15) and creating Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m)). The Wisconsin Supreme Court later

confirmed that "the sex offender registration requirement established in Wis. Stat. § 938.34(15m) is a disposition." $Cesar\ G.$, 272 Wis. 2d 22, ¶ 40.

In Cesar G., the Court confirmed that the statutes permitted a juvenile to move for a stay of the sex offender registration disposition. Id. ¶¶ 51-52. The Court placed the burden on the juvenile moving for a stay "to prove by clear and convincing evidence that, based on these factors, a stay should be granted in his or her case." Id. ¶ 51. The burden "attaches when a juvenile files a motion requesting a stay of the sex offender registration requirement." Id.

At Nigl's juvenile disposition, he could have moved for a stay under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(16). The statutory section was enacted years before his disposition. See 1995 Wisconsin Act 77, sec. 629; 1995 Wisconsin Act 440, secs. 79-81. Nothing prevented Nigl from moving for a stay through reliance upon the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 938.34. In Cesar G., the juvenile made such a motion in the circuit court prior to appellate review. 272 Wis. 2d 22, ¶ 9. Nigl

concedes that he could have sought such a stay in 1999 (Def.-Appellant Br. 9-10).

Nigl failed to move for a stay under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(16) at the time of his adjudication in 1999. "There is no dispute that Nigl never took any action to ask for the registration requirement to be stayed" (*Id.* at 5). Having never moved for a stay, Nigl cannot now criticize the juvenile court for not issuing a stay sua sponte in 1999. *See Cesar G.*, 272 Wis. 2d 22, ¶ 51 (sua sponte stay). Nigl forfeited the statutory right exempting him from sex offender registration. *See Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 29.

- IV. The circuit court properly denied Nigl's motions because he cannot retroactively apply *Cesar G*. to his sex offender registration requirement.
 - A. Nigl cannot retroactively apply *Cesar G*. to his juvenile adjudication from 1999.

Under nonretroactivity doctrine, "a new rule of criminal procedure generally cannot be applied retroactively to cases that were final before the rule's issuance." State v. Lagundoye, 2004 WI 4, ¶ 13, 268 Wis. 2d 77, 674 N.W.2d 526. A court employs a three-part test to determine whether the doctrine applies: (1) Whether the

rule was new; (2) Whether it was a rule of criminal procedure; and (3) Whether a case was final. State ex rel. Krieger v. Borgen, 2004 WI App 163, ¶ 8, 276 Wis. 2d 96, 687 N.W.2d 79.

Under the doctrine, Cesar G. was a new rule. "A rule is new if the result was not dictated by precedent existing at the time the defendant's conviction became final." Krieger, 276 Wis. 2d 96, ¶ 9. Here, Cesar G. announced that the sex offender registration requirement is a disposition the juvenile court may stay under Wis. Stat. § 938.34(16). 272 Wis. 2d 22, ¶ 40. Nigl acknowledges that "[t]he availability to a juvenile of the right to move for a stay of sex offender registration was first clearly identified" in Cesar G. (Def.-Appellant Br. 7-8). So there is no dispute that Cesar G. announced a new rule within the meaning of the doctrine because it was the first case clearly identifying a juvenile court's authority to stay the disposition of sex offender registration. See Krieger, 276 Wis. 2d 96, ¶ 9.

Cesar G. addressed a rule of criminal procedure. Sex offender registration is not a punishment. Hezzie R., 219 Wis. 2d at 881; In re Jeremy P., 2005 WI App 13, ¶ 14, 278 Wis. 2d 366, 692 N.W.2d 311. Registration is a collateral consequence. State v. Bollig, 2000 WI 6, ¶ 27, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199. So the requirement is not a substantive law because it neither declares what acts are crimes, nor prescribes the punishment therefore. See Lagundoye, 268 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 21. The relevant substantive law in Nigl's juvenile case was his underlying offense of first degree sexual assault of a child. See id. But the procedure by which he may stay the dispositional collateral consequence of sex offender registration is procedural. See id. ¶ 22. Nigl acknowledges that the Cesar G. addressed a new "procedure" (Def.-Appellant Br. 9). So there is no dispute that Cesar G. involved a rule of criminal procedure.

Nigl's juvenile case from 1999 was final when the Court issued its *Cesar G*. opinion in 2004. Nigl concedes that his juvenile case was final: "When this was decided, Nigl was

already almost 19 years old and out of the jurisdiction of the juvenile court, and the Dispositional Order had already been expired for four years" (*Id.* at 5). His juvenile case clearly was final under nonretroactivity doctrine. *See Lagundoye*, 268 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 20; *Krieger*, 276 Wis. 2d 96, ¶ 10.

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